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I. INTRODUCTION 

1. Broadcom Limited ("Broadcom") and Avago Technologies General IP 

(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. ("Avago") (collectively, "Complainants") respectfully request that the 

United States International Trade Commission commence an investigation pursuant to 

Section 337 ofthe Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, to remedy the 

unlawful and unauthorized importation into the United States, the sale for importation, 

and/or the sale within the United States after importation, of certain wireless audio systems 

and components thereof (the "Accused Products"), including, without limitation, certain 

speakers, soundbars, receivers, amplifiers, adapters, and audio systems and other 

substantially similar systems and products that infringe one or more claims of U.S. Patent 

No. 6,684,060 ("the '060 Patent" or "the Asserted Patent") (Exhibit l ) . 1 

2. The '060 Patent involves extraordinarily valuable technology in the field of 

audio processing for wireless systems. Complainant Avago owns by assignment the '060 

Patent, which is a valid and enforceable United States patent. This patent has been licensed 

to leading technology companies in the United States and throughout the world, as listed in 

Confidential Exhibit 2C. 

3. Complainants' licensees have invested considerable resources in the 

development of a domestic industry that exploits the '060 Patent within the United States. 

This domestic industry includes, among others, wireless speaker products that practice and 

are licensed under the '060 Patent.2 

This Amended Complaint was filed to correct the confidentiality status of one of the 
exhibits. 
2 Exhibits 37-48 are claim charts showing how various representative licensee products 
practice at least claim 20 of the '060 Patent. 
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4. The Proposed Respondents violating Section 337 are: DTS, Inc. ("DTS"); 

Phorus, Inc. ("Phorus"); MartinLogan, Ltd. ("MartinLogan"); Paradigm Electronics Inc. 

("Paradigm"); Anthem Electronics, Inc. ("Anthem") (collectively, Paradigm Electronics Inc. 

and Anthem Electronics, Inc. are referred to as "The Paradigm Respondents" ); Wren Sound 

Systems, LLC ("Wren"); Mcintosh Laboratory, Inc. ("Mcintosh"); Definitive Technology 

("Definitive"); and Polk Audio Inc. ("Polk").4 

5. More specifically, DTS provides its "Play-Fi" technology to the remaining 

downstream Proposed Respondents, whose products, when integrated with the infringing 

technology provided by DTS, infringe the '060 Patent. The Proposed Respondents thus 

directly and/or indirectly infringe at least claim 20 of the '060 Patent. 

U.S. Patent No. Asserted Claim 

6,684,060 20 

6. DTS describes its "Play-Fi" technology as "whole-home wireless 

audio." Exhibit 49 (https://plav-fi.com/technology/). It allows a user to stream music from, 

for instance, a smartphone or laptop, to one or more speakers, located throughout the user's 

home: 

3 Paradigm and Anthem appear to have the same principal place of business (205 Annagem 
Boulevard, Mississauga, ON L5T 2V1, Canada), and share the same phone number ((905) 
564-1994). "Anthem Electronics" is also referred to as a "sister" company to Paradigm 
Electronics. See http://novo.press/paradigm-electronics-and-anthem°electronics/. 
4 Exhibits 8-36 are sample claim charts explaining how representative accused products 
infringe claim 20 of the '060 Patent. 
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Place speakers from different brands throughout your house, and control them ail with one app. 

Exhibit 50 (https.V/www.crutchfield.com/S-VNnFBToVgaV/iearn/introducing-p 

wireless-audio .html). 

7. DTS advertises that streaming between a smartphone (or other similar 

device) and speakers can take place over a "standard Wi-Fi" network. Exhibit 49 

(https://play-fi.com/technology/). 

8. According to DTS, the Play-Fi technology encompasses an entire 

"ecosystem" of products: 

The DTS Play-Fi ecosystem features the largest collection of products in the 
whole-home wireless space, with more than 30 interoperable speakers, 
soundbars and receivers from the top names in premium audio, 
including Aerix, Anthem, Arcam, Autonomic, Definitive Technology, Fusion 
Research, Integra, Klipsch, MartinLogan, Mcintosh, Onkyo, Paradigm, 
Phorus, Pioneer, Polk Audio, Rotel, Sonus faber and Wren Sound Systems. 

Exhibit 51 (https://play-fi.com/news/ces-2017-dts-play-fi-continues-to-grow) (emphasis 

added). 



9. DTS stresses on its website that "[a] 11 Play-Fi products" in the ecosystem 

"are seamlessly interoperable": 

What is DTS Play-Fi®? 
I , . i I I I I , H 

! I , 1 I I I ll I I . , I • 

i I f t j t I i i i i j I l r i V t J I r 

yen ve 

\ l i I > I (- J 

I - * ' 

' I l , ! f l l 

. ! , ! ! ! 

Exhibit 49 (https://plav-Fi.com/technology/). 

10. A prominent part of this ecosystem is DTS' "Play-Fi app." See, e.g., 

Exhibit 52 (https://play-fi.com/apps/ios/) (for the iPhone, iPad, and iPod Touch). The app 

enables users to connect their smartphones or other similar devices to their chosen Play-Fi 

enabled speakers. Id. ("Use the Wi-Fi settings to connect new speakers to the network in 

just a few minutes. Give the speaker a name, and you're done. Add new speakers the same 

way. Step-by-step instructions are right in the app."). 

11. Publicly available information indicates that DTS has encouraged, and wil l 

continue to encourage, wide-scale adoption of its Play-Fi technology. In January 2017, Jon 

Kirchner (identified as President of Tessera Holding Corporation5), explained that in "the 

past year, DTS has substantially grown its list of partner products and services incorporating 

DTS next-generation audio technologies for the home, mobile devices and 

autos." Exhibit 51 (https://play°fi.com/news/ces-2017°dts-play-fi-continues-to-grow). He 

went on to explain that in "2017, DTS wil l continue to innovate and expand its reach 

5 Tessera Holding Corporation, now named Xperi Corporation, is the parent company of 
DTS. http://yvfww.businesswire.com/news/home/20170222005478/en/Tessera-Holding-
Corporation-Announces-Change-Xperi-Corporation. 
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enabling listeners to experience enhanced entertainment no matter where they are. We are 

proud to highlight the latest updates and implementation progress of the DTS Play-

Fi." Id. 

12. Proposed Respondents' activities with respect to the importation into the 

United States, the sale for importation into the United States, and/or the sale within the 

United States after importation of the Accused Products, as defined above and as described 

more fully in Sections V and V I below, are unlawful under 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(l)(B)(i), in 

that they constitute the infringement of one or more valid and enforceable claims ofthe 

'060 Patent. Additionally, a domestic industry as required by U.S.C. §§ 1337(a)(2) and (3) 

exists in the United States relating to the technology protected by the Asserted Patent as 

described more fully in Section V I I below. 

13. Complainants seek relief from the Commission in the form of a limited 

exclusion order excluding certain wireless audio systems and components thereof (such as, 

for example, various speakers, soundbars, receivers, amplifiers, adapters, and audio systems) 

that infringe one or more claims of the '060 Patent and that are manufactured by or on 

behalf of, or imported by or on behalf of, any Proposed Respondents, or any of their 

affiliated companies, parents, subsidiaries, or other related business entities, or their 

successors or assigns, from entry for consumption into the United States, entry for 

consumption from a foreign trade-zone, or withdrawal from a warehouse for consumption, 

for the remaining term of the '060 Patent, except under license of Complainants or as 

provided by law. 

14. Complainants further seek as relief cease-and-desist orders that prohibit 

Proposed Respondents and any of their principals, stockholders, officers, directors, 

employees, agents, licensees, distributors, controlled (whether by stock ownership or 



otherwise) or majority-owned business entities, successors, and assigns, from either directly 

engaging in or for, with, or otherwise on behalf of Proposed Respondents: (A) importing or 

selling for importation into the United States wireless audio systems and components thereof 

(such as, for example, various speakers, soundbars, receivers, amplifiers, adapters, and audio 

systems) that infringe one or more claims of the '060 Patent; (B) marketing, distributing, 

offering for sale, selling, or otherwise transferring in the United States imported wireless 

audio systems and components thereof (such as, for example, various speakers, soundbars, 

receivers, amplifiers, adapters, and audio systems) that infringe one or more claims ofthe 

'060 Patent; (C) advertising imported wireless audio systems and components thereof (such 

as, for example, various speakers, soundbars, receivers, amplifiers, adapters, and audio 

systems) that infringe one or more claims of the '060 Patent in the United States; 

(D) soliciting U.S. agents or distributors for imported wireless audio systems and 

components thereof (such as, for example, various speakers, soundbars, receivers, 

amplifiers, adapters, and audio systems) that infringe one or more claims of the '060 Patent; 

and (E) aiding or abetting other entities in the importation, sale for importation, sale after 

importation, transfer, or distribution of wireless audio systems and components thereof (such 

as, for example, various speakers, soundbars, receivers, amplifiers, adapters, and audio 

systems) that infringe one or more claims of the '060 Patent. 

15. Complainants further seek any other relief the Commission is authorized to 

grant and deems appropriate. 
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I I . T H E PARTIES 

A. Complainants 

16. Broadcom Limited (as defined above, "Broadcom") is a Singapore 

corporation with a principal place of business at 1320 Ridder Park Drive, San Jose, 

California 95131. 

17. Broadcom is a diversified global semiconductor industry leader with a 50-

year history of innovation, collaboration and engineering excellence. With roots in the rich 

technical heritage of technology powerhouse-predecessors AT&T/Bell Labs, Lucent, and 

Hewlett-Packard/Agilent, Broadcom builds on technologies that connect the world. 

Through its industry leading subsidiaries LSI, Avago Technologies, and Broadcom 

Corporation, Broadcom designs, develops, and supplies digital and analog semiconductor 

connectivity solutions that serve the wired infrastructure, wireless communications, 

enterprise storage, and industrial markets. In the wireless space alone, Broadcom is 

uniquely equipped with leading-edge technologies for LTE Advanced, Wi-Fi, Bluetooth, 

and GNSS applications, with advanced RF front-end solutions that optimize cellular 

communications performance, and leading-edge connectivity solutions that maximize 

wireless data transfer. Broadcom and its subsidiaries also market their wireless audio 

solutions and intellectual property to their long-term technology customers who implement 

Broadcom's innovative wireless audio solutions in their products. 

18. Broadcom relies on the patent system as an important part of its intellectual 

property program to protect the valuable technology and inventions resulting from its 

research and development. As of October 30, 2016, Broadcom had approximately 27,640 

U.S. and other patents and approximately 3,020 U.S. and other pending patent applications. 
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Exhibit 7 (Broadcom 2016 Form 10-K, excerpted), at 8. Broadcom's research and 

development efforts resulted in approximately 350 new patent applications in 2016. Id. 

19. Avago Technologies General IP (Singapore) Pte. Ltd. (as defined above, 

"Avago") is a corporation formed under the laws of the country of Singapore with its 

principal place of business at 1 Yishun Avenue 7, Singapore 768923. 

20. Avago is an international company providing commercial and technical 

research and development services, particularly in the areas of computing, networking, and 

storage. It owns, by assignment, the '060 Patent. It is a Broadcom subsidiary. 

B. Proposed Respondents 

21. DTS, also referred to as the "Component Functionality Respondent," 

provides its Play-Fi technology to each of the other Proposed Respondents. Phorus, 

MartinLogan, The Paradigm Respondents, Wren, Mcintosh, Definitive, and Polk are 

collectively referred to as the "Downstream Product Respondents," whose products, when 

integrated with the infringing technology provided by DTS, also infringe the '060 Patent. 

1. DTS, Inc. 

22. DTS, the sole Component Functionality Respondent, designs, manufactures, 

imports, sells for importation, sells after importation, and distributes the infringing wireless 

Play-Fi streaming functionality, and/or partners with others to do so. This functionality is 

incorporated into downstream products by each of the Downstream Product Respondents 

discussed below. 

23. DTS is a Delaware corporation headquartered at 5220 Las Virgenes Road, 

Calabasas, California 91302. It is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Xperi Corporation. DTS 

describes itself an audio solutions company that develops products for use in mobile 

devices, home theater systems, and cinema, among others. See http://dts.com/about-us. 
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DTS claims its technology is integrated in over two billion devices globally. Id. On 

information and belief, DTS is the worldwide parent company for other DTS entities and is 

responsible, directly and/or indirectly, for at least the infringing activities and products of 

Proposed Respondent Phorus, a wholly-owned subsidiary of DTS. See 

http://phorus.com/about. On infonnation and belief, DTS and/or its CEO, Jon Kirchner, 

control and direct Phorus. As explained further below, DTS also induces and/or contributes 

to the infringement of the other Downstream Product Respondents. 

24. On information and belief, DTS and others, including wholly-owned 

subsidiary Phorus, design, develop, manufacture, import into the United States, sell for 

importation into the United States, and/or sell after importation into the United States, 

wireless streaming technologies (including software applications) that infringe the '060 

Patent and/or are included in consumer electronic devices that infringe the '060 Patent. See, 

e.g., Exhibit 49 (https://play-fi.com/technology). As an example of one of DTS' software 

applications, it advertises the "Play-Fi app" as a prominent part of its Play-Fi ecosystem. 

See, e.g., Exhibit 52 (https://play-fi.com/apps/ios/) (for the iPhone, iPad, and iPod 

Touch). The app enables users to connect their smartphones and similar products to their 

chosen Play-Fi enabled speakers. Id. ("Use the Wi-Fi settings to connect new speakers to 

the network in just a few minutes. Give the speaker a name, and you're done. Add new 

speakers the same way. Step-by-step instructions are right in the app."). DTS thus provides 

that app for its customers to tap into their Play-Fi enabled devices. 

25. On information and belief, DTS designs, develops, and manufactures (or 

manufactures through third parties acting on its behalf), imports into the United States, sells 

for importation into the United States, and/or sells after importation into the United States, a 

hardware component referred to as "the second-generation Play-Fi Wireless Module, also 

- 9 -



known as Caprica2L." Exhibit 53C (Caprica 2L Play-Fi Wireless Module Design Guide) 

at 5. The Caprica 2L is identified with a DTS part number: 

Id. at 20. 

26. "Caprica2L is a WiFi audio module designed for wireless, multi-room audio 

distribution. Caprica2L streams with 16 bit resolution and 44.1 KHz sampling rate. The 

module may be utilized in speakers, stand-alone receivers or incorporated into other 

products like AVRs." Id. On information and belief, the Caprica2L module is incorporated 

into the Accused Products, which are imported into the United States. For example, 

documentation for The Paradigm Respondents' MRX 1120, MRX 720, and A V M 60 states 

that each unit "CONTAINS TRANSMITTED MODULE ID: 2AAWQ-CAPRICA2L." 

Exhibit 54 (MRX 1120, MRX 720, and A V M 60 Operating Manual, excerpted) at I I I . On 

information and belief, the inclusion of the Caprica2L into certain products configures the 

products in a manner such that they infringe one or more claims of the '060 Patent, 

including at least claim 20. 

- 10-



2. Phorus, Inc. 

27. Phorus is a California corporation with its principal executive office at 5220 

Las Virgenes Road, Calabasas, California 91302, which is the same address as DTS' 

corporate headquarters. Phorus is a wholly-owned subsidiary of DTS. See 

http://phorus.com/about. According to public filings with the California Secretary of State, 

Mr. Jon Kirchner, the CEO of DTS, is also the CEO of Phorus. On information and belief, 

Phorus has the same management and common ownership as DTS and is controlled and 

directed by DTS and/or DTS' CEO, Mr. Jon Kirchner. Phorus describes itself as a home 

audio systems company manufacturing speakers, receivers, and companion applications. 

28. On information and belief, Phorus designs, develops, and manufactures (or 

manufactures through third parties acting on its behalf), imports into the United States, sells 

for importation into the United States, and/or sells after importation into the United States, 

speakers and receivers that infringe the '060 Patent. On information and belief, Phorus is 

related to and supports DTS in its activities related to the Accused Products. 

3. MartinLogan, Ltd. 

29. MartinLogan is a Kansas corporation headquartered at 2101 Delaware St., 

Lawrence, Kansas, 66046. MartinLogan is a wholly-owned subsidiary of ShoreView 

Industries. See https://www.martinlogan.com/support.contact.php. MartinLogan describes 

itself as an audio systems company that manufactures various subwoofers, speakers, 

soundbars, and wireless audio systems. 

30. On information and belief, MartinLogan designs, develops, and manufactures 

(or manufactures through third parties acting on its behalf), imports into the United States, 

sells for importation into the United States, and/or sells after importation into the United 

States, soundbars, and wireless speakers that infringe the '060 Patent. 

- 11 -



4. The Paradigm Respondents 

(a) Paradigm Electronics, Inc. 

31. Paradigm is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business at 

205 Annagem Boulevard, Missisauga, Ontario, L5T 2V1, Canada. Paradigm describes itself 

as an audio systems company that manufactures various high performance speakers, 

soundbars, and headphones, including wireless speaker technologies. See 

https://www.paradigm.com/support/paradigm-history.php. On information and belief, 

Paradigm is the parent company for other entities and is responsible, directly and/or 

indirectly, for at least the infringing activities and products of respondent Anthem, a wholly-

owned subsidiary of Paradigm. See http://novo.press/paradigm-electronics°and°anthem-

electronics/. 

32. On information and belief, Paradigm designs, develops, and manufactures (or 

manufactures through third parties acting on its behalf), imports into the United States, sells 

for importation into the United States, and/or sells after importation into the United States, 

speakers, soundbars, and receivers that infringe the '060 Patent. 

(b) Anthem Electronics, Inc. 

33. Anthem is a Delaware corporation with its principal place of business at 205 

Annagem Boulevard, Missisauga, Ontario, L5T 2V1, Canada—the same address as 

Paradigm. Anthem describes itself as an audio systems company that manufactures various 

A/V processors, A/V receivers, and amplifiers, among other things. See 

https://www.anthemav.com. 

34. On information and belief, Anthem designs, develops, and manufactures (or 

manufactures through third parties acting on its behalf), imports into the United States, sells 
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for importation into the United States, and/or sells after importation into the United States, 

receivers that infringe the '060 Patent. 

5. Wren Sound Systems, L L C 

35. Wren is a Pennsylvania corporation with its principal place of business in 

Phoenixville, Pennsylvania. Wren describes itself as a sound systems company that 

specializes in high-quality sound streamed wirelessly from phones, tablets, and the like. See 

http://wrensound.com/about. 

36. On information and belief, Wren designs, develops, and manufactures (or 

manufactures through third parties acting on its behalf), imports into the United States, sells 

for importation into the United States, and/or sells after importation into the United States, 

speakers that infringe the '060 Patent. 

6. Mcintosh Laboratory, Inc. 

37. Mcintosh is a Delaware corporation headquartered at 2 Chambers Street, 

Binghamton, New York, 13903. It is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Mcintosh Group. See 

http://www.mcintoshlabs.com/us/Pages/ContactUs.aspx. Mcintosh is a premium audio 

product company that manufactures amplifiers, receivers, headphones, media streamers, and 

speakers, among other products. See http://vvvvw.mcintoshlabs.com/us/Pages/Home.aspx. 

38. On information and belief, Mcintosh designs, develops, and manufactures (or 

manufactures through third parties acting on its behalf), imports into the United States, sells 

for importation into the United States, and/or sells after importation into the United States, 

wireless audio systems and speakers that infringe the '060 Patent. 

7. Definitive Technology 

39. Definitive is a Maryland corporation with its principal place of business in 

Ownings Mills, Maryland. Definitive is a premium speaker company that manufactures 
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high-end speakers and receivers, including wireless solutions for both. See 

https ://www. defmitivetechnolo gy. com/about-us. Proposed Respondents Definitive and Polk 

are subsidiaries of DEI Holdings. See http://www.deiholdings.com. 

40. On information and belief, Definitive designs, develops, and manufactures 

(or manufactures through third parties acting on its behalf), imports into the United States, 

sells for importation into the United States, and/or sells after importation into the United 

States, wireless adapters, speakers, and soundbars that infringe the '060 Patent. 

8. Polk Audio Inc. 

41. Polk is a Maryland corporation headquartered at One Viper Way, Vista, 

California, 92081. Polk is a hi-f i audio company that manufactures various high-end 

speakers. See https://www.polkaudio.com/our-story. As previously noted, Proposed 

Respondents Polk and Definitive are subsidiaries of DEI Holdings. See 

http://www.deiholdings.com. 

42. On information and belief, Polk designs, develops, and manufactures (or 

manufactures through third parties acting on its behalf), imports into the United States, sells 

for importation into the United States, and/or sells after importation into the United States, 

wireless adapters, speakers, soundbars, and amplifiers that infringe the '060 Patent. 

9. Concerted Efforts of DTS and Phorus 

43. On information and belief, DTS actively encourages, directs, and controls 

others to market, sell, offer for sale, and distribute Accused Products to residents, customers, 

or businesses within the United States. DTS and Phorus have the same registered place of 

business, share management, and, upon information and belief, are under common 

ownership. 
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44. On information and belief, DTS instructs, directs, controls, orchestrates, 

oversees and otherwise is responsible for the conduct of Phorus by, among other things, 

maintaining control over the quality of the goods sold by Phorus, by directing or maintaining 

enforcement rights in DTS' intellectual property, and by exercising control over its licensees 

in relation to the distribution channels its licensed goods may be sold in. Upon information 

and belief, DTS directs and controls at least Phorus to import, market, offer for sale, sell, 

and distribute Accused Products in the United States including within the United States and 

is liable for Phorus' conduct. As a result of DTS' retention and exercise of the 

aforementioned direction and control, Phorus is, on information and belief, an agent of DTS. 

III . T H E T E C H N O L O G Y AND PRODUCTS AT ISSUE 6 

A. The Technology 

45. The present Amended Complaint generally addresses wireless audio 

technology. It concerns technologies used in a variety of wireless audio systems and 

components thereof, including accused speakers, soundbars, receivers, amplifiers, adapters 

and sound systems imported into the United States, sold for importation into the United 

States, or sold within the United States after importation by or on behalf of the Proposed 

Respondents. 

6 The non-technical description of the patent technology provided in this Amended 
Complaint is provided solely to comply with the Commission Rules and is not intended to 
limit, define, or otherwise affect the construction and/or application of the '060 Patent. 
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B. The Accused Products7 

46. The Accused Products are generally wireless audio systems and components 

thereof (such as speakers, soundbars, receivers, amplifiers, adapters, and sound systems) and 

other similar audio devices and systems imported, marketed and/or sold by Proposed 

Respondents in the United States. 

47. The following chart sets forth some examples of Representative Accused 

Products that are imported, sold for importation, or sold within the United States after 

importation by the Proposed Respondents: 

Proposed Respondents Representative Accused Products 

DTS DTS Play-Fi technology ofal l accused 
products, including those of DTS-subsidiary 
Phorus, as well as the DTS/Phorus PR5 
Receiver, PS1 Speaker, PS5 Speaker 

Phorus PR5 Receiver, PS1 Speaker, PS5 Speaker 

MartinLogan Motion Vision X, Cadence, CRESXGBD-
Crescendo X 

The Paradigm Respondents PW Soundbar, PW 800, PW AMP, MRX 
1120, MRX 720, A V M 60 

Wren V5US, V3US Universal System, V5PF 

Mcintosh MB50 Streaming Audio Player, RSI00 
Wireless Loudspeaker System 

Definitive W Adapt, W9 Flagship Audiophile-Grade 
Wireless Speaker, W7 Ultra-Compact 
Audiophile-Grade Wireless Speaker, W 
Studio Micro, W Studio, W Amp 

7 Complainants believe that the general familiarity of the Accused Products, along with the 
charts and photographs provided with this Amended Complaint, make the provision of 
physical exhibits unnecessary. Providing physical exhibits across all accused products 
would present practical challenges as well, including as to expense, transportation and 
storage. Should the Commission request physical samples, however, Complainants wi l l 
provide them to the extent practicable. 
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Polk SBl Plus, S2, S2R, S6, Omni PI , Omni A l 

IV. T H E PATENT AT ISSUE 

48. Complainants hereby assert the '060 Patent. 

A. Identification of the Patent and Ownership by Complainants 

49. Avago owns by assignment the entire right, title, and interest in the '060 

Patent entitled "Digital Wireless Premises Audio System and Method of Operation 

Thereof," which issued on January 27, 2004. The '060 patent issued to inventor Steven D. 

Curtin from United States Patent Application No. 09/547,381, filed on April 11, 2000. Mr. 

Curtin made his invention while employed at Broadcom predecessor Agere Systems, Inc. of 

Allentown, Pennsylvania. It expires on April 11, 2020. Pursuant to Commission Rule 

210.12(a)(9)(i), a certified copy of the '060 Patent is attached as Exhibit 1. Pursuant to 

Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(h), copies of the recorded assignments of the '060 Patent are 

attached as Exhibit 3.8 

50. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(c), a certified copy and three additional 

copies of the prosecution history of the '060 Patent, as well as four copies of the patent and 

applicable pages of each technical reference mentioned in the prosecution history, are 

attached as Appendices A and B, respectively. 

B. Non-Technical Description of the '060 Patent 

51. The '060 Patent discloses and claims a new system of digital wireless 

premises audio and a method of operating the same. The invention is the result of efforts to 

improve flexibility and minimize distortion in home multichannel audio systems, which had 

previously remained reliant on analog stereo wires and had grown increasingly large and 

Complainants have requested from the United States Patent and Trademark Office, and 
will provide the Commission as soon as they receive them, certified copies ofthe '060 
Patent's recorded assignments. 
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often required structural modification to maintain sound quality. The invention solves the 

problem by providing a digital audio encoder/transmitter to accept a plurality of digital 

audio channels (such as left and right speaker channels), encode the channels into a digital 

data stream, and wirelessly transmit the stream about the premises. The invention of the 

'060 Patent also covers devices configured to receive a stream from a digital audio 

encoder/transmitter, decode at least one audio channel from the data, convert the audio 

channel to analog form, and drive a speaker with the analog signal to generate sound. 

52. The '060 patent has 29 claims: five independent claims and 24 dependent 

claims. 

C. Foreign Counterparts to the '060 Patent 

53. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(v), on information and belief, 

Exhibit 4 identifies the foreign patents or patent applications related to the '060 Patent that 

have been filed, granted, abandoned, withdrawn, or rejected.9 

D. Licensees Under the '060 Patent 

54. Pursuant to Commission Rule 210.12(a)(9)(iii), a list identifying each 

licensee licensed for audio products under the '060 Patent is attached as Confidential 

Exhibit 2C. 

V. S P E C I F I C INSTANCES OF IMPORTATION AND S A L E 

55. On information and belief, Proposed Respondents manufacture and/or have 

manufactured the Accused Products and pertinent components thereof overseas. On further 

information and belief, Proposed Respondents, directly or through agents and others, import 

into the United States, sell or offer for sale for importation into the United States, and/or sell 

within the United States after importation, the Accused Products. The specific instances of 

9 The lists of related foreign patents and applications include patents and applications in the 
same family that are not necessarily counterparts to the '060 Patent. 
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importation of the Accused Products set forth below are examples of the unlawful 

importation and/or sale after importation of infringing articles.10 

56. DTS. DTS, together with subsidiary Phorus, directly infringes and imports 

infringing products into the U.S. In addition, DTS induces and/or contributes to 

infringement by the Downstream Product Respondents. Each and every one of the 

representative Accused Products identified in the following paragraphs, including those of 

DTS subsidiary Phorus, incorporates DTS' Play-Fi technology, which is imported, sold for 

importation, and/or sold after importation into the United States. DTS also designs, 

develops, and manufactures (or manufactures through third parties acting on its behalf), 

imports into the United States, sells for importation into the United States, and/or sells after 

importation into the United States, a hardware component referred to as "the second-

generation Play-Fi Wireless Module, also known as Caprica2L." Exhibit 53C (Caprica 2L 

Play-Fi™ Wireless Module Design Guide) at 5. On information and belief, the inclusion of 

the Caprica2L into certain products configures the products in a manner such that they 

infringe one or more claims of the '060 Patent, including at least claim 20. DTS encourages 

the adoption and use of its technology in the Accused Products and provides its Play-Fi app 

to allow users to connect their personal devices (e.g., smartphones) to Play-Fi enabled 

devices that have been imported, sold for importation, and/or sold after importation into the 

United States. 

57. On information and belief, DTS directs and controls others, including Phorus, 

to manufacture, import into the United States, sell for importation into the United States, 

1 0 Complainants purchased several of the Accused Products for testing. Upon information 
and belief, all of the Accused Products are imported into the United States. Attached as 
Exhibit 55 is purchase information for the tested audio products, together with information 
demonstrating that those products were manufactured overseas and imported into the United 
States. 
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and/or sell after importation into the United States, the Accused Products. See, e.g., supra, 

fl 23, 27-28, and 45-46. 

58. On information and belief, DTS indirectly infringes the '060 Patent by -

without authority - licensing, indemnifying, designing, developing, aiding or assisting in 

marketing, and/or encouraging or assisting others, including the Downstream Product 

Respondents, to manufacture for importation into the United States, import into the United 

States, sell for importation into the United States, and/or sell after importation into the 

United States, the Accused Products knowingly and with the specific intent to encourage 

infringement, including, at a minimum, being willfully blind to the existence of the '060 

Patent, and further knowing, or being willfully blind to the fact, that such acts would 

infringe the '060 Patent within the United States, in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b). 

59. Phorus. DTS and/or Phorus imports, sells for importation, or sells after 

importation into the United States certain wireless audio systems and components thereof 

that infringe at least claim 20 ofthe '060 Patent. Exhibit 56 at 1 (photo of DTS/Phorus PR5 

Receiver container); Exhibit 56 at 4 (photo of DTS/Phorus PSl container); Exhibit 56 at 3 

(photo of DTS/Phorus PS5 container). Such Representative Accused Products were 

manufactured abroad. Exhibit 56 at 2 (photo of DTS/Phorus PR5 Receiver container 

showing that the product was "Made in China"); Exhibit 56 at 4 (photo of DTS/Phorus PSl 

container showing that the product was "Made in China"); Exhibit 56 at 3 (photo of 

DTS/Phorus PS5 container showing that the product was "Made in China"). And these 

Representative Accused Products have been imported into the United States. Exhibit 55 

at 14 (invoice indicating that the DTS/Phorus PR5 Receiver was shipped to the United 

States); Exhibit 55 at 16 (invoice indicating that the DTS/Phorus PSl was shipped to the 
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United States); Exhibit 55 at 16 (invoice indicating that the DTS/Phorus PS5 was shipped to 

the United States).11 

60. Complainants believe that the DTS/Phorus Representative Accused Products 

are exemplary of numerous other Accused Products imported, sold for importation, or sold 

within the United States after importation into the United States by DTS and/or Phorus 

because such other devices feature the same or substantially similar infringing functionality. 

Accordingly, on information and belief, numerous other devices that are covered at least by 

claim 20 of the '060 Patent have been imported, sold for importation, and/or sold within the 

United States after importation, into the United States, by DTS and/or Phorus. 

61. MartinLogan. MartinLogan imports, sells for importation, or sells after 

importation into the United States certain wireless audio systems and components thereof 

that infringe at least claim 20 of the '060 Patent. Exhibit 57 at 1 (photo of MartinLogan 

CRESXGBD: Crescendo X container); Exhibit 57 at 3 (photo of MartinLogan Motion 

Vision X container); Exhibit 57 at 5 (photo of MartinLogan Cadence container). Such 

Representative Accused Products were manufactured abroad. Exhibit 57 at 2 (photo of 

MartinLogan CRESXGBD: Crescendo X container showing that the product was "Made in 

China"); Exhibit 57 at 4 (photo of MartinLogan Motion Vision X showing that the product 

was "Manufactured in China"); Exhibit 57 at 5 (photo of MartinLogan Cadence container 

showing product was "Made in Vietnam"). And these Representative Accused Products 

have been imported into the United States. Exhibit 55 at 7 (invoice indicating that the 

MartinLogan CRESXGBD: Crescendo X was shipped to the United States); Exhibit 55 at 7-

8 (invoice indicating that the MartinLogan Motion Vision X was shipped to the United 

1 1 The above-mentioned DTS/Phorus products collectively referred to as the "DTS/Phorus 
Representative Accused Products." 
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States); Exhibit 55 at 17 (invoice indicating that the MartinLogan Cadence was shipped to 

the United States).12 

62. Complainants believe that the MartinLogan Representative Accused Products 

are exemplary of numerous other Accused Products imported, sold for importation, and/or 

sold within the United States after importation into the United States by MartinLogan 

because such other devices feature the same or substantially similar infringing functionality. 

Accordingly, on information and belief, numerous other devices that are covered at least by 

claim 20 of the '060 Patent have been imported, sold for importation, and/or sold within the 

United States after importation, into the United States, by MartinLogan. 

63. The Paradigm Respondents. The Paradigm Respondents import, sell for 

importation, and/or sell after importation into the United States certain wireless audio 

systems and components thereof that infringe at least claim 20 of the '060 Patent. Exhibit 

58 at 1 (photo of The Paradigm Respondents' PW Soundbar container); Exhibit 58 at 2 

(photo of The Paradigm Respondents PW-800 serial plate); Exhibit 58 at 3 (photo of The 

Paradigm Respondents' MRX 720); Exhibit 58 at 5 (photo of The Paradigm Respondents' 

MRX 1120); Exhibit 58 at 4 (photo of The Paradigm Respondents' A V M 60). Such 

Representative Accused Products were manufactured abroad. Exhibit 58 at 1 (photo of The 

Paradigm Respondents' PW Soundbar container showing that the product was "Made in 

Vietnam"); Exhibit 58 at 2 (photo of The Paradigm Respondents' PW-800 serial plate 

showing that the product was "Made in China"); Exhibit 58 at 3 (photo of The Paradigm 

Respondents' MRX 720 showing it was made in Vietnam); Exhibit 58 at 5 (photo of The 

Paradigm Respondents' MRX 1120 showing that the product was "Made in Vietnam"); 

Exhibit 58 at 4 (photo of The Paradigm Respondents' A V M 60 showing that the product 

1 9 

The above-mentioned MartinLogan products collectively referred to as the "MartinLogan 
Representative Accused Products." 
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was "Made in Vietnam"). And these Representative Accused Products have been imported 

into the United States. Exhibit 55 at 11 (invoice indicating that The Paradigm Respondents' 

PW Soundbar was shipped to the United States); Exhibit 55 at 13 (invoice indicating that 

The Paradigm Respondents' PW-800 was shipped to the United States); Exhibit 55 at 20-24 

(website printout showing that The Paradigm Respondents' MRX 720 was offered for sale 

in the United States); Exhibit 55 at 30-34 (website printout showing that The Paradigm 

Respondents' MRX 1120 was offered for sale in the United States); Exhibit 55 at 25-29 

(website printout showing that the Anthem A V M 60 was offered for sale in the United 

States).13 On information and belief, the Crutchfield company offering for sale in the U.S. 

the MRX 720, MRX 1120, and A V M 60 ships those products from Virginia (in the U.S.). 

See, e.g., https://www.crutchfield.com/support/shipping.aspx. 

64. Complainants believe that The Paradigm Respondents Representative 

Accused Products are exemplary of numerous other Accused Products imported, sold for 

importation, and/or sold within the United States after importation into the United States by 

The Paradigm Respondents because such other devices feature the same or substantially 

similar infringing functionality. Accordingly, on information and belief, numerous other 

devices that are covered at least by claim 20 of the '060 Patent have been imported, sold for 

importation, and/or sold within the United States after importation, into the United States, by 

The Paradigm Respondents. 

65. Wren. Wren imports, sells for importation, and/or sells after importation into 

the United States certain wireless audio systems and components thereof that infringe at 

least claim 20 ofthe '060 Patent. Exhibit 59 at 1 (photo of Wren V5PF container); Exhibit 

59 at 3 (photo of Wren V5US container); Exhibit 59 at 4 (photo of Wren V3US container). 

1 3 The above-mentioned The Paradigm Respondents products collectively referred to as 
"The Paradigm Respondents Representative Accused Products." 
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Such Representative Accused Products were manufactured abroad. Exhibit 59 at 2 (photo of 

Wren V5PF container showing that the product was "Made in China"); Exhibit 59 at 3 

(photo of Wren V5US container showing that the product was "Made in China"); Exhibit 59 

at 5 (photo of Wren V3US container showing that the product was "Made in China"). And 

these Representative Accused Products have been imported into the United States. Exhibit 

55 at 5 (invoice indicating that the Wren V5PF was shipped to the United States); Exhibit 55 

at 12 (invoice indicating that the Wren V5US was shipped to the United States); Exhibit 55 

at 17 (invoice indicating that the Wren V3US was shipped to the United States).14 

66. Complainants believe that the Wren Representative Accused Products are 

exemplary of numerous other Accused Products imported, sold for importation, and/or sold 

within the United States after importation into the United States by Wren because such other 

devices feature the same or substantially similar infringing functionality. Accordingly, on 

information and belief, numerous other devices that are covered at least by claim 20 of the 

'060 Patent have been imported, sold for importation, and/or sold within the United States 

after importation, into the United States, by Wren. 

67. Mcintosh. Mcintosh imports, sells for importation, and/or sells after 

importation into the United States certain wireless audio systems and components thereof 

that infringe at least claim 20 ofthe '060 Patent. Exhibit 60 at 1 (photo of Mcintosh RSI 00 

container). Such Representative Accused Products were manufactured abroad. Exhibit 60 

at 1 (photo of Mcintosh RSI 00 container showing the product was "Assembled in China"). 

And these Representative Accused Products have been imported into the United States. 

1 4 The above-mentioned Wren products collectively referred to as the "Wren Representative 
Accused Products." 
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Exhibit 55 at 4 (invoice indicating that the Mcintosh RSI00 was shipped to the United 

States).15 

68. Complainants believe that the Mcintosh Representative Accused Products are 

exemplary of numerous other Accused Products imported, sold for importation, and/or sold 

within the United States after importation into the United States by Mcintosh because such 

other devices feature the same or substantially similar infringing functionality. Accordingly, 

on information and belief, numerous other devices that are covered at least by claim 20 of 

the '060 Patent have been imported, sold for importation, and/or sold within the United 

States after importation, into the United States, by Mcintosh. 

69. Definitive. Definitive imports, sells for importation, and/or sells after 

importation into the United States certain wireless audio systems and components thereof 

that infringe at least claim 20 of the '060 Patent. Exhibit 61 at 1 (photo of Definitive W9 

container); Exhibit 61 at 2 (additional photo of Definitive W9 container); Exhibit 61 at 4 

(photo of Definitive W7 container); Exhibit 61 at 6 (photo of Definitive W Studio 

container); Exhibit 61 at 8 (photo of Definitive W Studio Micro container). Such 

Representative Accused Products were manufactured abroad. Exhibit 61 at 3 (photo of 

Definitive W9 container showing that the product was "Made in China"); Exhibit 61 at 5 

(photo of Definitive W7 container showing that the product was "Made in China"); Exhibit 

61 at 7 (photo of Definitive W Studio container showing that the product was "Made in 

China"); Exhibit 61 at 9 (photo of Definitive W Studio Micro container showing that the 

product was "Made in China"). These Representative Accused Products have been imported 

into the United States. Exhibit 55 at 1 (invoice indicating that the Definitive W9 was 

1 5 The above-mentioned Mcintosh products collectively referred to as the "Mcintosh 
Representative Accused Products." 
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shipped to the United States); Exhibit 55 at 1 (invoice indicating that the Definitive W7 was 

shipped to the United States); Exhibit 55 at 2 (invoice indicating that the Definitive W 

Studio was shipped to the United States); Exhibit 55 at 3 (invoice indicating that the 

Definitive W Studio Micro was shipped to the United States).16 

70. Complainants believe that the Definitive Representative Accused Products 

are exemplary of numerous other Accused Products imported, sold for importation, and/or 

sold within the United States after importation into the United States by Definitive because 

such other devices feature the same or substantially similar infringing functionality. 

Accordingly, on information and belief, numerous other devices that are covered at least by 

claim 20 of the '060 Patent have been imported, sold for importation, and/or sold within the 

United States after importation, into the United States, by Definitive. 

71. Polk. Polk imports, sells for importation, and/or sells after importation into 

the United States certain wireless audio systems and components thereof that infringe at 

least claim 20 of the '060 Patent. Exhibit 62 at 1 (photo of Polk S2 container); Exhibit 62 

at 3 (photo of Polk S6 container); Exhibit 62 at 5 (photo of Polk S2R container); Exhibit 62 

at 7 (photo of Polk SBl Plus container). Such Representative Accused Products were 

manufactured abroad. Exhibit 62 at 2 (photo of Polk S2 container showing that the product 

was "Made in China"); Exhibit 62 at 4 (photo of Polk S6 container showing that the product 

was "Made in China"); Exhibit 62 at 6 (photo of Polk S2R container showing that the 

product was "Made in China"); Exhibit 62 at 8 (photo of Polk SBl Plus container showing 

that the product was "Made in China"). And these Representative Accused Products have 

been imported into the United States. Exhibit 55 at 1-2 (invoice indicating that the Polk S2 

was shipped to the United States); Exhibit 55 at 2 (invoice indicating that the Polk S6 was 

1 6 The above-mentioned Definitive products collectively referred to as the "Definitive 
Representative Accused Products." 
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shipped to the United States); Exhibit 55 at 2 (invoice indicating that the Polk S2R was 

shipped to the United States); Exhibit 55 at 3 (invoice indicating that the Polk SBl Plus was 

1 7 

shipped to the United States). 

72. Complainants believe that the Polk Representative Accused Products are 

exemplary of numerous other Accused Products imported, sold for importation, and/or sold 

within the United States after importation into the United States by Polk because such other 

devices feature the same or substantially similar infringing functionality. Accordingly, on 

information and belief, numerous other devices that are covered at least by claim 20 of the 

'060 Patent have been imported, sold for importation, and/or sold within the United States 

after importation, into the United States, by Polk 

VI. UNLAWFUL AND UNFAIR ACTS COMMITTED B Y PROPOSED 
RESPONDENTS—PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

73. Proposed Respondents unlawfully sell for importation, import, and/or sell 

after importation into the United States Accused Products, and products containing the 

same, that directly and/or indirectly infringe at least claim 20 ofthe '060 Patent. 

74. On information and belief, Proposed Respondents manufacture abroad, sell 

for importation into the United States, import into the United States, and/or sell within the 

United States after importation, Accused Products that infringe one or more claims of the 

'060 Patent. 

75. On information and belief, DTS indirectly infringes by, among other things, 

inducing and/or contributing to the infringement of the Downstream Product Respondents, 

and the Downstream Product Respondents directly infringe by making, using, selling, 

1 7 The above-mentioned Polk products collectively referred to as the "Polk Representative 
Accused Products." 
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offering for sale, and/or importing articles, including certain wireless audio systems and 

components thereof, which are covered by the claims ofthe '060 Patent. DTS, together with 

subsidiary Phorus, also directly infringes. 

A. Direct Infringement 

76. Independent claim 19 of the '060 Patent claims "a digital wireless premises 

audio receiver." In whole, Claim 19 recites: 

19. For use with digital wireless premises audioencoder/ 
transmitter that accepts a plurality of audio channels in digital form, 
encodes said plurality of audio channels into a stream of digital data 
and wirelessly transmits said stream about said premises, a digital 
wireless premises audio receiver comprising: 

a digital audio receiver/decoder module, located on said 
premises and couplable to a power source and a speaker, that 
receives said stream, decodes one of said plurality of audio 
channels therefrom, converts said one of said plurality of 
audio channels to analog form suitable for use in driving said 
speaker therewith. 

Exhibit 1 (emphasis added). Dependent claim 20 adds the limitation "wherein said power 

source is a line power source for said premises." Id, 

11. Figure 2 of the '060 Patent, shown below, provides a helpful illustration 

depicting an embodiment of a digital wireless premises audio system (item 200) as claimed 

in claim 19 in the form of a block diagram. In the block diagram, item 231 depicts a digital 

audio receiver/decoder of claim 19, an audio power amplifier (item 232), and a speaker 

(item 233). 
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78. As shown in the accompanying claim charts (Exhibits 8-36), each Accused 

Product is "a digital wireless premises audio receiver" that can be powered by a line power 

source, and thus infringes claim 20. The preamble of claim 19 describes a "digital wireless 

premises audio encoder/transmitter" that each Accused Product is configured "for use with" 

as required by claim 20. As shown in the accompanying claim charts (Exhibits 8-36), a 

mobile device such as a smartphone that is equipped with the Play-Fi app is such a "digital 

wireless premises audio encoder/transmitter." Each Accused Product is configured for use 

with a mobile device equipped with a Play-Fi app. Importantly, this configuration in the 

Accused Products is present at the time of importation and does not require any actual 

downloading or use of the Play-Fi app itself. Rather, the fact that the Accused Products are 

configured to receive, decode, and convert audio channel data from a mobile device 

equipped with the Play-Fi app (and are powered by a line power source) constitutes direct 

infringement of claim 20. 
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79. The accompanying claim charts (Exhibits 8-36) include detailed information 

concerning the Play-Fi app and Play-Fi technology to demonstrate the type of digital 

wireless premises audio encoder/transmitter that the Accused Products are configured for 

use with. This explanation is provided to demonstrate that the structure, functionality, and 

configuration of the Accused Products meet all elements of claims 19 and 20, and thus that 

the Accused Products directly infringe claim 20. 

80. On information'and belief, and by way of example only, the following 

Accused Products infringe at least claim 20 of the '060 Patent: 

a. DTS and Phorus: PR5 Receiver, PSl Speaker, PS5 Speaker 

b. MartinLogan: Motion Vision X, Cadence, CRESXGBD-Crescendo X 

c. The Paradigm Respondents: PW Soundbar, PW 800, PW AMP, MRX 

1120, MRX 720, A V M 60 

d. Wren: V5US, V3US Universal System, V5PF 

e. Mcintosh: MB50 Streaming Audio Player, RSI00 Wireless 

Loudspeaker System 

f. Definitive: W Adapt, W9 Flagship Audiophile-Grade Wireless 

Speaker, W7 Ultra-Compact Audiophile-Grade Wireless Speaker, 

W Studio Micro, W Studio, W Amp 

g. Polk: SBl Plus, S2, S2R, S6, Omni PI , Omni A l 

81. On information and belief, the Downstream Product Respondents directly 

infringe at least claim 20 the '060 Patent by making, using, selling, offering for sale, and 

importing the above-listed products. 

1 8 In addition to the specific products listed here, any other wireless audio systems and 
components thereof manufactured by the Proposed Respondents that feature the same or 
substantially similar wireless audio functionality infringe at least claim 20 of the '060 
Patent. 
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82. Sample claim charts comparing claim 20 of the '060 Patent to one or more 

representative Accused Products for each of the Downstream Product Respondents are 

attached as Exhibits 8-36. The declarations of Drs. Christopher Kyriakakis and Bi l l 

Gardner, attached as Exhibits 5 and 6, further explain how the representative Accused 

Products for each of the Downstream Product Respondents infringe claim 20 ofthe '060 

Patent. 

B. Indirect Infringement 

83. On information and belief, all Proposed Respondents are aware of the '060 

Patent at least as ofthe date they were or wi l l be served with this Amended Complaint. DTS 

has been aware of the '060 Patent at least as of approximately July 26, 2017, the date that 

Complainants notified DTS of the '060 Patent and its infringing conduct. Complainants 

further noticed DTS of the '060 Patent and the infringing conduct by hand-served letter on 

August 9, 2017. 

84. On information and belief, DTS induces others, including, for instance, the 

Downstream Product Respondents and end-users of the Accused Products, to infringe one or 

more claims of the '060 Patent with the specific intent to encourage their infringement by, 

among other things, encouraging adoption of DTS' Play-Fi technology (includmg 

encouraging the Downstream Product Respondents to incorporate that technology in their 

products), making available the Play-Fi app and encouraging its download, installation, and 

use. 

85. Indeed, the "Play-Fi app" is a prominent part of the Play-Fi ecosystem. See, 

e.g., Exhibit 52 (https://plav-fi.com/apps/ios/) (for the iPhone, iPad, and iPod Touch). The 

app enables users to connect their smartphones to their chosen Play-Fi enabled 

speakers, https://play-fi.com/apps/ios/ ("Use the Wi-Fi settings to connect new speakers to 
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the network in just a few minutes. Give the speaker a name, and you're done. Add new 

speakers the same way. Step-by-step instructions are right in the app."). 

86. DTS has encouraged, and wil l continue to encourage, wide-scale adoption of 

its Play-Fi technology. In January 2017, Jon Kirchner (identified as President of Tessera 

Holding Corporation), explained that in "the past year, DTS has substantially grown its list 

of partner products and services incorporating DTS next-generation audio technologies for 

the home, mobile devices and autos." Exhibit 51 (https://play-fi.com/news/ces-2017-dts-

play-fi-continues-to-grow). He went on to explain that in "2017, DTS wil l continue to 

innovate and expand its reach enabling listeners to experience enhanced entertainment no 

matter where they are. We are proud to highlight the latest updates and implementation 

progress of the DTS Play-Fi." Id. 

87. On information and belief, DTS contributes to the infringement of one or 

more claims of the '060 Patent by, among others, the Downstream Product Respondents, 

because it knows that the Play-Fi technology, Caprica2L hardware module, and/or Accused 

Products embody a material part of the claimed inventions of the '060 Patent, that they are 

specially made or specially adapted for use in an infringement of the claims, and that they 

are not staple articles of commerce suitable for substantial non-infringing uses. 

88. For instance, and on information and belief, the Play-Fi technology and/or 

Caprica2L hardware module embody a material part ofthe claimed inventions that are 

specially made or adapted for use to infringe at least claim 20 of the '060 Patent. On further 

information and belief, neither are staple articles of commerce suitable for substantial non

infringing uses. 
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VII . T H E DOMESTIC INDUSTRY 

89. As required by section 337(a)(2) and defined by section 337(a)(3), an 

industry in the United States exists in connection with articles protected by the Asserted 

Patent. Licensees of the '060 Patent have made significant investments in plants and 

equipment, employed significant labor and capital, and made substantial investments in 

engineering, research and development, and pre- and post-sale support related to products 

and services that embody the '060 Patent. Complainants rely on these substantial 

investments to satisfy the economic prong under subsections A, B, and C of 

section 337(a)(3). 

A. Technical Prong - Devices that Practice the '060 Patent 

90. Complainants identify at least the following devices that practice the '060 

Patent ("Domestic Industiy Wireless Speaker Products"): 

For Samsung Electronics Company, Ltd., the: 

• Samsung Level Box Mini 

• Samsung Scoop 

• Samsung Radiant360 R l 

• Samsung Radiant360 R3 

• Samsung Radiant360 R5 

• Samsung Radiant360 R7 

referred to herein as the "Samsung Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products." 

Claim charts showing that the Samsung Level Box Mini, Samsung Scoop, and Samsung R l 

practice at least claim 20 of the '060 Patent are attached hereto as Exhibits 45^-7. On 

information and belief, the Samsung R3, R5, and R7 operate in a manner that is similar to 

the R l and practice at least claim 20 of the '060 Patent. 
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For Sony Corporation, the: 

Sony SRS •XB2 

Sony SRS •XB3 

Sony SRS HG1 

Sony SRS •X88 

Sony SRS •X99 

Sony SRS •ZR5 

Sony SRS •ZR7 

referred to herein as the "Sony Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products." 

Claim charts showing that the Sony Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products practice 

at least claim 20 of the '060 Patent are attached hereto as Exhibits 38^4 and 48. 

For LG Electronics, Inc., the: 

• LG Music Flow 

referred to herein as the "LG Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products." A 

claim chart showing that the LG Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products' practices at 

least claim 20 of the '060 Patent is attached hereto as Exhibit 37. 

91. Each of the products listed above practices at least Claim 20 ofthe '060 

Patent by virtue of the fact that the products are compatible with the Bluetooth Advanced 

Audio Distribution Profile ("A2DP") and the fact that each product can be powered by an 

AC power cable plugged into a wall socket. These claim charts are representative of all 

licensee products that are compatible with the A2DP and can be powered by an AC power 

cable plugged into a wall socket. 
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B. Economic Prong 

92. Complainants' domestic industry is based on investments in the design, 

engineering, development, and after-sale technical service, repair, and support ofthe 

Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products in the United States. These investments were 

made by various licensees, including Samsung Electronics America, Inc., Sony Electronics, 

Inc., and LG Electronics USA, Inc. These activities comprise a significant investment in 

plant and equipment, significant employment of labor and capital, and a substantial 

investment in the exploitation of the '060 Patent through engineering, research, and 

development. 

1. Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd. 

93. Samsung Electronics Company, Ltd. is licensed under the '060 Patent. 

Appendix C. The scope of this license extends to subsidiaries of Samsung Electronics 

Company, Ltd., including Samsung Electronics America, Inc. ("Samsung Electronics 

America") and Samsung Research America, Inc. ("Samsung Research America"). Id. 

Complainants rely on the substantial investments of Samsung Electronics Company, Ltd. 

and its subsidiaries in plant, equipment, labor, capital, engineering, research and 

development, and pre- and post-sale product support related to the Samsung Domestic 

Industry Wireless Speaker Products to satisfy the economic prong under subsections A, B, 

and C of section 337(a)(3). 

94. Headquartered in Ridgefield Park, NJ, Samsung Electronics America, a New 

York corporation, is a recognized innovation leader in consumer electronics design and 

technology. Exhibit 63 at 2-3 (Samsung press release regarding launch of new wireless 

speaker). Samsung Electronics America delivers a broad range of digital consumer 

electronics, mobile products and wearables, wireless infrastructure, IT and home appliance 
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products, including the Samsung Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products. Id. 

Samsung Electronics America employs thousands of individuals across the United States. 

Exhibit 63 at 5 (Samsung Electronics America Linkedln profile). 

95. In April 2015, Samsung Electronics America launched its Wireless Audio 

Radiant 360 R7 omnidirectional speaker, one of the Samsung Domestic Industry Wireless 

Speaker Products. Exhibit 63 at 1-2 (Samsung press release regarding launch of new 

wireless speaker). This product, along with other Samsung audio products, including the 

Samsung R5 and, on information and belief, other Samsung Domestic Industry Wireless 

Speaker Products, was designed and developed in the United States in a state-of-the-art 

Audio Lab in Valencia, CA. Id. This facility, pictured below, is operated by Samsung 

Research America, a California corporation with its principal place of business in Mountain 

View, CA. Exhibit 63 at 23 (News Corp. article regarding Samsung Research America's US 

Audio Lab); Exhibit 63 at 21 (Samsung Research America 2015 Statement of Information). 

Samsung Research America's Audio Lab in Valencia, CA 

96. Samsung Research America's Audio Lab is an 8,500 square foot world-class 

facility for developing high end audio equipment. Exhibit 63 at 14-15 (Digital Trends 

article regarding Samsung Research America's US Audio Lab). The facility boasts two 

anechoic chambers, pictured below, which allow for near-perfect sound isolation for testing 
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loudspeakers and other audio gear and were reportedly constructed at a cost of nearly 

$500,000. Exhibit 63 at 24-25 (News Corp. article regarding Samsung Research America's 

US Audio Lab). 

Interior view of anechoic chamber in Samsung Research America's Audio Lab 

97. As of January 2016, Samsung Research America employed approximately 20 

individuals at its Audio Lab, including Ph.D. and Master degree recipients, many of whom 

were brought in from other well-known audio equipment manufacturers, such as Harman, 

Bang & Olufsen, Gibson, and Beats by Dre. Exhibit 63 at 13 (Digital Trends article 

regarding Samsung Research America's US Audio Lab). This research and development 

team has been actively involved in developing at least two of the Samsung Domestic 

Industry Wireless Speaker Products: the R5 and R7. Exhibit 63 at 23-24 (News Corp. article 

regarding Samsung Research America's US Audio Lab, noting the "intensive" efforts in 

developing and testing the R5 speakers conducted at the Audio Lab). On information and 

belief, Samsung Research America invests significant amounts in salary and personnel 

expenses for these employees. 

98. Samsung Electronics America accounts for a substantial portion of the 

business of its corporate parent, Samsung Electronics Company, Ltd., and its affiliated 

entities. For example, in 2016, Samsung Electronics America reported total sales of 
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34,521,654 Korean won ($29.76 billion), which amounted to 17% of Samsung's total 

worldwide revenue of 201,866,745 Korean won ($174 billion). Exhibit 64 at 22, 29 

(Excerpts from Consolidated Financial Statements of Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd. and 

Subsidiaries dated February 27, 2017). Samsung Electronics America, Samsung Electronics 

Company, Ltd. and its affiliated entities (collectively, "Samsung"), invests substantial sums 

in the United States related to research and development of its products, including, on 

information and belief, the Samsung Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products. 

Exhibit 64 at 9 (Excerpts from Samsung Electronics Sustainability Report 2017). For 

example, Samsung Research America's Silicon Valley campus in Mountain View, CA, is 

situated on 8.5 acres and includes two six-story LEED Platinum designed office buildings 

totaling nearly 385,000 square feet. Exhibit 63 at 29 (Samsung press release regarding 

Samsung Research America's Silicon Valley campus). 

99. On information and belief, Samsung invests substantial amounts on facilities, 

equipment, and personnel in the United States on critical post-manufacture support of the 

Samsung Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products. On information and belief, these 

investments support pre-delivery activities such as product deployment, supply chain 

management, warehousing, logistics, and distribution, as well as post-sale activities, 

including technical support, customer service, and warranty and repair service for 

Samsung's Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products. 

100. As noted, Samsung invests significant sums in providing warranty repairs and 

services for its products, including the Samsung Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker 

Products, which come with one-year parts and labor warranties. For example, the limited 

warranty provided for Samsung's R l wireless speaker (a Domestic Industry Wireless 

Speaker Product) specifically identifies Samsung Electronics America's Ridgefield Park, NJ 
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location as the point of contact for warranty inquiries in the United States, and Samsung 

provides online and telephone support services for customers in the United States. Exhibit 

63 at 33 (Warranty for Samsung Radiant 360 R l Speaker). These services are tailored to 

specific product offerings, including the Samsung Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker 

Products. Exhibit 63 at 34-39 (Samsung support webpage for Radiant360 speakers). 

Indeed, across all business lines, Samsung reported total worldwide warranty expenses for 

2016 of 3,752,603 million Korean won ($3.35 billion). Exhibit 64 at 31 (Excerpts from 

Consolidated Financial Statements of Samsung Electronics Co., Ltd. and Subsidiaries dated 

February 27, 2017). 

101. The economic prong requirement has been satisfied through Samsung's 

domestic investments in its electronics devices in the United States in several past 

investigations. See., e.g., Inv. No. 337-TA-631, Inv. No. 337-TA-794, Inv. No. 337-TA-

941. Indeed, in the 631 investigation, Samsung prevailed on summary determination in 

establishing the economic prong based on investment in support, service, repair and 

replacement regarding domestic products. Inv. No. 337-TA-631, Order No. 18. 

102. Samsung is expected to provide additional bases and supporting information 

under this section through discovery or otherwise. 

2. Sony Corporation 

103. Sony Corporation is licensed under the'060 Patent. Appendix D. The scope 

of this license extends to subsidiaries of Sony Corporation, including Sony Electronics, Inc. 

("Sony Electronics") Id. Complainants rely on the substantial investments of Sony 

Corporation and its subsidiaries in plant, equipment, labor, capital, engineering, research and 

development, and pre- and post-sale product support related to the Sony Domestic Industry 
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Wireless Speaker Products to satisfy the economic prong under subsections A, B, and C of 

section 337(a)(3). 

104. Sony Electronics is a leading provider of audio/video electronics and 

information technology products for the consumer and professional markets, including the 

Sony Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products from among Sony's Home 

Entertainment & Sound business in the United States. Exhibit 65 at 1 (Sony webpage, Our 

Businesses). Sony Electronics, a Delaware corporation, is headquartered in San Diego, 

California, and, on information and belief, employs hundreds of individuals at its 

headquarters that provide research and development, engineering, distribution and technical 

customer service functions for its audio/video electronics and information technology 

products, including the Sony Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products. Id. Sony 

Electronics' headquarters are located in a 450,000 square foot, 11-story high rise office 

tower, which boasts a fitness center, conference center, dining facility, and a six-level garage 

structure with 1,500 parking spaces. The facility was initially valued at over $160 million 

when constructed in 2011. Exhibit 65 at 5-6 (Sundt Construction webpage, Sony 

Electronics North America Headquarters). 

Sony Electronics' San Diego Headquarters 
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105. Further, Sony Electronics' parent company, Sony Corporation, is a global 

company headquartered in Tokyo, Japan. Exhibit 66 at 1 (Sony Group Summary). It is a 

leading manufacturer of consumer and professional electronic products. Id. Sony 

Corporation's major business areas include: Mobile Communications, Game & Network 

Services, Imaging Products & Solutions, Home Entertainment & Sound, Semiconductors, 

Components, Pictures, Music, and Financial Services. Id. In particular, Sony Corporation's 

Home Entertainment & Sound business delivers televisions and home audio and video 

products, including the Sony Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products. Exhibit 65 at 8 

(Sony webpage, Business Overview of Sony Group). 

106. Sony Corporation has a significant presence in the United States, and does 

business in the United States through a number of subsidiaries, including Sony Corporation 

of America, located in New York, NY (the U.S. headquarters of Sony Corporation), Sony 

Electronics Inc., Sony Mobile Communications (USA) Inc., Sony Interactive Entertainment 

L L C , Sony Pictures Entertainment Inc., Sony Music Entertainment, and Sony/ATV Music 

Publishing LLC. Exhibit 65 at 10 (Sony webpage, Who We Are).. Its sales in the United 

States across all business segments totaled 1,673,768 million Yen ($14.9 billion) for the 

fiscal year ending March 31, 2017. Exhibit 66 at 18 (Excerpts of Sony Corporation Form 

20-F (FY2016)). This accounted for approximately 22% of its global sales for this period, 

which totaled 7,603,250 million Yen ($67.9 billion 1 9). Id. 

107. On information and belief, Sony Electronics, together with its parent Sony 

Corporation (collectively, "Sony"), invests substantial amounts on facilities, equipment, and 

personnel in the United States on critical post-manufacture support of the Sony Domestic 

Industry Wireless Speaker Products. On information and belief, these investments support 

1 9 Assuming exchange rate of 1 USD = 112 Yen. 
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pre-delivery activities such as product deployment, supply chain management, warehousing, 

logistics, and distribution, as well as post-sale activities, including technical support, 

customer service, and warranty and repair service for Sony's Domestic Industry Wireless 

Speaker Products. 

108. As noted, Sony commits significant resources to the after-sale technical 

service and repair of its products in all markets in which its products are sold, including the 

Sony Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products sold in the United States. Sony 

provides these services through its own web technical-support page, call centers, service 

centers, authorized independent service centers, authorized servicing dealers, and 

subsidiaries. Exhibit 66 at 16 (Excerpts of Sony Corporation Form 20-F (FY2016)). For 

example, Sony provides direct contact information in-warranty and extended warranty repair 

for its consumer electronics products on its U.S. website. Exhibit 65 at 12 (Sony webpage, 

Sony eSupport - Electronics - Service & Repair). Sony's website also provides copies of the 

limited warranties that cover Sony's products, including the Sony Domestic Industry 

Wireless Speaker Products. Exhibit 65 at 14 (Sony webpage, Sony eSupport - SRS-ZR5 -

Support); Exhibit 65 at 17 (Sony Limited Warranty). 

109. Sony's audio and video products, including the Sony Domestic Industry 

Wireless Speaker Products, account for a significant portion of Sony's Home Entertainment 

& Sound business segment, which is a significant portion Sony's global business. Within 

Sony's Home Entertainment & Sound business segment, Sony's audio and video products, 

including the Sony Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products, accounted for 311,771 

million Yen ($2.8 billion) world-wide for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2017. Exhibit 66 

at 17 (Excerpts of Sony Corporation Form 20-F (FY2016)). This amounts to approximately 

4.1% of Sony Corporation's global revenue for that period. Estimating the value of Sony's 

- 4 2 -



audio and video products sold in the United States during this period based on the 

percentage of all sales in the United States (22%) suggests that Sony sold approximately 

$612 million of audio and video products, including the Sony Domestic Industry Wireless 

Speaker Products, in the United States in the fiscal year ending March 31, 2017. 

110. Sony has a history of investment in research and development in the United 

States. For example, Sony launched the Sony Research Program in 2016 to provide North 

American universities with funding for emerging and innovative technology research 

• * * 20 • * 

projects in collaboration with Sony's own research division. Exhibit 65 at 18-19 (Sony 

press release regarding Sony Research Program). This program includes awards of 

$100,000 and $150,000 to enable faculty participation in research and the development of 

breakthrough technologies. Sony provided multiple research awards to faculty at 
• 21 * * 

educational institutions in the United States in 2016. Exhibit 65 at 22 (Sony webpage, 

Sony Research Award Program). 

111. Sony is expected provide additional bases and supporting information under 

this section through discovery. 

3. L G Electronics Inc. 

112. LG Electronics, Inc. is licensed under the '060 Patent. Appendix E. The 

scope of this license extends to subsidiaries of LG Electronics, Inc., including LG 

Electronics USA, Inc. ("LGEUS"). Id. Complainants rely on the substantial investments of 

LG Electronics, Inc. and its subsidiaries in plant, equipment, labor, capital, engineering, 

research and development, and pre- and post-sale product support related to the LG 

https://www.sonv.com/en us/SCA/company-news/press-releases/sony-
electronics/2016/sony-establishes-research-award-program-for-north-.html. 
2 1 https://www.sonv.eom/research-award-program#Overview. 
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Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products to satisfy the economic prong under 

subsections A, B, and C of section 337(a)(3). 

113. LGEUS is a leading provider of consumer electronic devices in the United 

States, including the LGE Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products, from among 

LGE's home entertainment segment products. Exhibit 67 at 1-6 (LG Music Flow Press 

Release). LGEUS, a Delaware corporation, is currently headquartered at 1000 Sylvan 

Avenue, Englewood Cliff, N.J. and, on information and belief, employs hundreds of 

individuals at its headquarters who provide engineering, distribution, and technical customer 

support services for its home entertainment and other products, including the LG Domestic 

Industry Wireless Speaker Products. LGE is investing in a new 360,000-square-foot 

corporate campus at 111 Sylvan Ave., Englewood Cliff, N.J.—a $300 million project—that 

wil l double LG's local employment to more than 1,000 by 2019. Exhibit 67 at 7-8 (LG 

website for LG Building Project in Englewood Cliffs). LGEUS?s current and future 

headquarters in Englewood Cliffs, N.J., are pictured below. 

LGEUS's Current Headquarters in Englewood Cliffs, N.J. 
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4 

Rendering of the new corporate headquarters for LGEUS in Englewood Cliffs, N.J. 

114. LG Electronics Alabama, Inc. ("LGEAI"), a subsidiary of LGEUS 

incorporated in Alabama, is the home of Customer Service for all LG products purchased in 

the United States with multiple departments within including Customer Contact Centers, 

Mobile Communications Repair Center (located in Fort Worth, Texas), Field Support 

(Factory Repair Technicians that perform in home repairs), Service Parts Distribution 

Center, Technical Support, Business Support (B2B), and several other supportive 

departments and employs labor and capital to support LG products from its locations 

throughout the United States, with its Service Headquarters located in Huntsville, AL. 

Exhibit 67 at 9 (LGEUS Careers website). 

115. Further, the parent company of LGEUS, LG Electronics, Inc. ("LGEKR"), is 

a global company headquartered in Seoul, South Korea. LGEKR is global leader in 

consumer electronics and home appliances, employing 82,000 people around the world. See 

Exhibit 67 at 5 (LG Music Flow Press Release). LGEKR and its subsidiaries operate the 

following major business segments: Home Entertainment segment, which manufactures and 
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sells TVs, monitors, PCs, security devices, audio, video and other products including the LG 

Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products; Mobile Communications; Home Appliance 

& Air Solution; Vehicle Components; and LG Innotek, Co. See Exhibit 68 (LG Electronics, 

Consolidated Financial Statement, December 31, 2016 and 2015) at 6 and 10 (excerpt). 

116. LGEKR has a significant presence in the United States. LGEKR's sales in 

the United States across all business segments totaled 16,583,035 million KRW ($14.78 

billion 2 2) for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016. Exhibit 68at 11. This accounted for 

approximately 29.9% of its global sales for this period, which totaled 55.367 trillion KRW 

($49.35 billion 2 3). Id. 

117. LGEKR does business in the U.S. through a number of its subsidiaries: LG 

Electronics Miami Inc. (LGEMI); LGEAI; LG Electronics Mobile Research U.S.A., L.L.C. 

(LGEMR); LG Electronics Mobilecomm (LGEMU); LGEUS; Zenith Electronics 

Corporation of Pennsylvania; Zenith Electronics Corporation (Zenith); and LG Innotek 

USA, Inc. 

118. On information and belief, LGEUS, together with its parent LGEKR and 

subsidiary LGEAI (collectively "LGE"), invests substantial amounts on facilities, 

equipment, and personnel in the United States on critical post-manufacture support of the 

LG Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products. On information and belief, these 

investments support pre-delivery activities such as product deployment, supply chain 

management, warehousing, logistics, and distribution, as well as post-sale activities, 

including technical support, customer service, and warranty and repair service for LG's 

Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products. 

2 2 Assuming exchange rate of 1 USD = 1121.29 South Korean Won. 
2 3 Assuming exchange rate of 1 USD = 1121.29 South Korean Won. 
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119. As noted, LGE commits significant resources to the after-sale service and 

repair of its products in all markets in which its products are sold, including the LG 

Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products sold in the United States. LGE provides these 

services through its own web technical-support page, call centers, service centers, authorized 

independent service centers, authorized servicing dealers and subsidiaries. See LG Exhibit 

67 at 11. For example, LGE provides direct contact information in-warranty and extended 

warranty repair for its consumer electronics products on its U.S. website. Id. 

120. LGE's Home Entertainment business segment, which includes the LG 

Domestic Industry Wireless Speaker Products, accounted for 17.42 trillion KRW ($15.5 

billion 2 4) world-wide for the fiscal year ending December 31, 2016. Exhibit 68 at 10. This 

amounts to approximately 31.5% of LGE's global revenue for that period. Estimating the 

value of LGE's home entertainment products sold in the United States during this period 

based on the percentage of all sales in the United States (29.9%) suggests that LGE sold 

approximately $4.63 billion of home entertainment products, including the LGE Domestic 

Industry Wireless Speaker Products, in the United States in the fiscal year ending December 

31,2016. 

121. LGE has a history of investment in research and development in the United 

States. For example, the LG Silicon Valley Lab is LG Electronics' premier innovation 

center focused on next generation LG consumer electronic products. See Exhibit 67 (LG 

Silicon Valley Lab website) at 12-14. Additionally, LGEUS subsidiary LGEMU and its 

subsidiary LGEMR have facilities in San Diego, California; Morristown, New Jersey; 

Assuming exchange rate of 1 USD = 1121.29 South Korean Won. 
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Overland Park, Kansas; Atlanta, Georgia; and Bolingbrook, Illinois, dedicated to product 

support, testing, and development of specifications for LGE's consumer electronic devices.25 

122. The economic prong requirement has been satisfied through LG's domestic 

investments in its electronics devices in the United States in several past investigations. 

See., e.g., Inv. No. 337-TA-687. Indeed, in the 687 investigation, LG prevailed on summary 

determination in establishing the economic prong based work provided by LG employees or 

third party sub-contractors in handling customer service calls and return authorizations, 

handling technician support calls, and providing repairs and refurbishments of domestic 

products. Inv. No. 337-TA-687, Order No. 20. 

123. LGE is expected to provide additional bases and supporting information 

under this section through discovery. 

VIII . HARMONIZED TARIFF SCHEDULE INFORMATION 

124. The articles subject to this Amended Complaint are classified under at least 

the following headings and subheadings of the Harmonized Tariff Schedule ("HTS") of the 

United States: 8518.21.00, and/or 8518.22.00. These HTS numbers are illustrative only and 

are not intended to restrict the scope of this investigation. 

IX. RELATED L I T I G A T I O N 

125. The Asserted Patent is or wil l be the subject of a Civil Action in the United 

States District Court for the Central District of California filed by Complainants on August 

10, 2017, naming certain of the Proposed Respondents as Defendants. Specifically, 

Complainants have filed a complaint for patent infringement in that district against DTS and 

Phorus. 

See e.g., LTE Wireless Communication Devices and Components Thereof, Inv. No. 337-
TA-1051, Complaint at 35 (March 27, 2017). 
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126. Other than the foregoing, to Complainants' knowledge, the Asserted Patent 

has not been the subject of any other court or agency litigation, domestic or foreign. 

X. R E L I E F R E Q U E S T E D 

WHEREFORE, by reason of the foregoing, Complainants respectfully requests that 

the United States International Trade Commission: 

(a) institute an immediate investigation pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act 

of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337, into the violations by Proposed 

Respondents of Section 337 arising from the importation into the United 

States, and/or sale for importation, and/or sale within the United States after 

importation, of Proposed Respondents' products that infringe one or more 

claims of the Asserted Patent; 

(b) schedule and conduct a hearing, pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(c), for 

purposes of receiving evidence and hearing argument concerning whether 

there has been a violation of Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as 

amended; and, following the hearing, determine that there has been a 

violation of Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended; 

(c) issue a limited exclusion order, pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(d)(1), excluding 

from entry for consumption into the United States, entry for consumption 

from a foreign trade-zone, or withdrawal from a warehouse for consumption, 

certain wireless audio systems and components thereof that infringe one or 

more claims of the Asserted Patent and which are manufactured by or on 

behalf of, or imported by or on behalf of Proposed Respondents, or any of 

their affiliated companies, parents, subsidiaries, or other related business 
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entities, or their successors or assigns, for the remaining terms of the 

Asserted Patent, except under license of Complainants or as provided by law; 

issue permanent cease-and-desist orders, pursuant to 19 U.S.C. § 1337(f), 

directing Proposed Respondents and any of their principals, stockholders, 

officers, directors, employees, agents, licensees, distributors, controlled 

(whether by stock ownership or otherwise) or majority-owned business 

entities, successors, and assigns, from either directly engaging in or for, with, 

or otherwise on behalf of Proposed Respondents, (A) importing or selling for 

importation into the United States certain wireless audio systems and 

components thereof that infringe one or more claims of the Asserted Patent; 

(B) marketing, distributing, offering for sale, selling, or otherwise 

transferring, in the United States imported certain wireless audio systems and 

components thereof that infringe one or more claims of the Asserted Patent; 

(C) advertising imported certain wireless audio systems and components 

thereof in the United States that infringe one or more claims of the Asserted 

Patent; (D) soliciting U.S. agents or distributors for certain wireless audio 

systems and components thereof that infringe one or more claims of the 

Asserted Patent; or (E) aiding or abetting other entities in the importation, 

sale for importation, sale after importation, transfer, or distribution of certain 

wireless audio systems and components thereof that infringe one or more 

claims ofthe Asserted Patent; 

impose a bond during the 60-day Presidential review period pursuant to 19 

U.S.C. § 1337(e)(1) and (f)(1) to prevent further injury to the domestic 
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industry of Complainants and their licensees relating to the Asserted Patent; 

and 

(f) grant all such other and further relief as the Commission has authority to 

grant and deems appropriate under the law, based upon the facts complained 

of herein and as determined by the Investigation. 
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